-E 1 E aide frigger (Sie gebegrig in 1995) . 1- IN P E élfa. 1 Ē h Sel. E in the second -U П. 1 0 10 TH **N** 211 STILL ST

SHATTERED DREAMS

SWED)

Migrant workers and rights violations in the Dubai tourism sector

Report #75

This report has been published with the financial support of Sida, the Swedish International Development Authority. Sida has, however, not participated in the report's development and does not take a position on its contents. The report is authored by Swedwatch. Fair Action backs the report and have participated in developing its recommendations.



Author: Olof Björnsson Cover illustration: bluebeat76/Shutterstock Photos: Olof Björnsson Layout and Illustration: Åse Bengtsson Helin & Anders Birgersson Publisher: Henrik Fröjmark Published: October 13th 2015 ISBN 978-91-88141-07-1

Swedwatch is a religiously and politically independent organization that examines Swedish companies' business operations abroad. The organization's purpose is to reduce adverse social and environmental impacts, encourage best practice, share knowledge and hold an open dialogue with Swedish companies so that the business community pays greater attention to these issues. Swedwatch has six member organizations: the Church of Sweden, Diakonia, the Swedish Society for Nature Conservation, Fair Action, Solidarity Sweden-Latin America and Africa Groups of Sweden.

Contents

Executive summary
1. Introduction
2. Methodology
3. Companies and human rights
4. A billion dollar trip
5. Dubai
5.1 Creating luxury
5.2 Human rights under pressure
5.3 Waves of workers
5.3.1 Empty promises
5.4 Labour law
5.5 Kafala
6. Kafala and forced labour
7. What we found
7.1 Recruitment and passports
7.2 Working conditions and salaries
7.3 Exploitation of subcontracted staff
8. The tour operators and Dubai
8.1 Apollo
8.2 Ving
8.3 Fritidsresor
9. Analysis and conclusions
10. Recommendations to the companies
11. Litterature
Endnotes

6
12
27

Executive summary

This year more than 20,000 Swedes will travel to Dubai with Sweden's three biggest tour operators (Apollo, Fritidsresor and Ving), a number that is expected to more than threefold in the coming two years.

Dubai is marketed as a safe, sunny destination steeped in excess where some of the world's most iconic buildings reach for the sky. Or as one Swedish tour operator phrases it: A place where everybody's dreams come true.

The luxury of Dubai is built on the labour of millions of migrant workers. These migrant workers make up more than 80 percent of the population and come from all parts of the world. They do not only build the hotels but also staff them once they are built.



Noel, 35 Housekeeping Filipino

»It can be very exhausting working for 12 hours. It's like killing yourself.« The money earned by these workers and remitted back home is an important part of the economy of the home country. But living and working abroad has its risks. In Dubai, where, migrant workers lack basic human and labour rights, they are a vulnerable group.

Housekeepers, room attendants and other migrant workers at hotels marketed to Swedish consumers by two or more of the companies Apollo, Fritidsresor and Ving are no exception. This report reveals that they work days as long as twelve hours with little or no overtime pay.

Workers at two of the three hotels state that they paid for employment, despite this being illegal in Dubai. All three hotels also restrict the workers mobility by holding their passports – which according to the International Labour Organization is a sign of forced labour. Of the 30 migrant workers we interviewed only two held their passports.

These are practices that violate both the local labour law and international conventions, as well as the human rights policies of the Swedish tour operators themselves.

Workers who are not employed by the actual hotels, but rather by subcontracted staffing companies, paint an even darker picture. They describe how they were lured to Dubai by recruiters using false documents and empty promises. They sold property and family land to cover the recruitment fees, but when they arrived they were forced to sign new contracts with salaries much lower than they originally agreed upon.

Trapped by the need to provide for families back home, these workers have no other choice but to endure– with the threat of deportation constantly hanging over them.

At the root of this situation lies a system known as kafala – used to manage the massive influx of migrant workers. The essence of kafala is that every migrant worker needs a local sponsor who takes full responsibility for the worker during his or her stay in the country. For most unskilled workers it is impossible to change sponsors and therefore the migrant worker has no choice but to stay with the employer for the whole contract – regardless of the working conditions.

Recently the Swedish government launched a *National Action Plan for Business and Human Rights* with the explicit expectation that all Swedish companies shall respect human rights – as specified in the *United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights* (UNGP).

The tour operators Apollo, Fritidsresor and Ving all commit to these principles in theory. The reality however, is different. The required process of human rights due diligence is lacking to the extent that the companies have no knowledge about rights violations at the hotels where their customers are staying.

The Swedish companies have a responsibility to use their leverage to improve the human and labour rights of the migrant workers in the hotels that they use in Dubai. Therefore this report makes several recommendations to the tour operators.

Some of these recommendations are acute measures to make sure that the hotels stop withholding the workers' passports and follow the local law on issues like overtime and overtime payment. Other recommendations are on long-term commitments on issues like collective bargaining and other labour rights in Dubai.

1. Introduction

There are more migrant workers in the world today than ever before. This development is caused by a demand for unskilled labour in developed countries along with increasing poverty and unemployment in many developing countries. These migrant workers are vulnerable to exploitation, even though they contribute economically both to their host countries and to the sending countries. They also often enjoy little social and legal protection.¹

This is clear in Dubai, one of the seven emirates that comprise The United Arab Emirates (UAE). ² Here, tourism is big business. Through huge investments in attractions and infrastructure the UAE has become one of the top tourism destinations in the world.³ To house these visitors Dubai has built, on average, seventeen hotels every year since 1999.⁴

Considering that more than 80 percent of the UAE population are migrant workers these hotels are built and staffed almost exclusively by people from other countries.⁵ Meanwhile, the International Trade Union Confederation (ITUC) identified the UAE as one of the world's ten worst countries for workers.⁶

The focus of this criticism is the combination of law and informal practice known as kafala, which gives an employer considerable power by compelling, and sometimes forcing, the migrant to stay with the employer for at least two years irrespective of the working conditions.⁷

The number of Swedes visiting Dubai is modest but increasing. During Christmas and the winter sport holiday however, it is a top ten package holiday destination, according to travel agent Ticket.⁸ The main reason is that Swedes are looking for sunny alternatives to Egypt and Thailand.⁹

The vulnerability of migrant workers in the tourism industry is recognized and addressed in article nine of the Global Code of Ethics for Tourism by the UN World Tourism Organization Network. The code states that the fundamental rights of workers in the tourism industry should be guaranteed by the administration in both host countries and sending countries.10

Since it is the expectation of the Swedish government that all Swedish companies respect human rights Swedwatch now investigates what steps the three biggest Swedish tour operators are taking to ensure that migrant hotel workers are respected and protected in Dubai.

The purpose of this report is to highlight the greatest human rights risks within the Dubai tourism sector, and assess to what extent the Swedish companies are managing these risks in accordance with international guidelines such as the UNGP.

2. Methodology

This report is the result of a desk study combined with a series of interviews in Dubai. The 30 migrant workers interviewed for this study were selected because they are, or have been, working at one of the three hotels included in this study. The hotels are big, belong to well-known brands and were selected because they are marketed in Sweden by two or more of the tour operators: Ving, Apollo and Fritidsresor.

The interviews were conducted by a local consultant using questions provided by Swedwatch. Our focus was the lowest paid workers since they are the most vulnerable. The purpose was to ascertain the conditions of the migrants to determine whether their rights were respected.

The interviews were performed outside of the workplace without the employers' knowledge. To protect the participating workers they will not be named, neither will Swedwatch name the hotels where they work - to make sure that no workers suffer any negative consequences.

Of the 30 interviewed workers 25 are men and 5 are women. Due to challenges of accessibility we could not ensure a gender balance among the interviewed workers.



»They will penalize you if you complain or ask too many questions.«

Considering the realities of fieldwork and the timeframe of the field study Swedwatch had to focus on workers who were willing to be interviewed, rather than ensuring correct gender representation.

26 workers are from the Philippines while the others are from Uganda, Burma, Pakistan and Kenya. As a group they illustrate the different labour flows between Dubai and the world. A majority were either recruited by agencies (8 workers), or came on a tourist visa and changed to a working visa once they found a job (8 workers). The rest were recruited directly by the hotel companies in their home countries (4 workers) or locally in the UAE (3 workers). Some preferred not to say (4 workers).

A majority of the interviewed migrants work in housekeeping, either as room attendants or as coordinators/supervisors. The rest work as security guards, with food and beverages, as lifeguards or do other jobs in areas like logistics and ticketing. Two workers are low-level managers.

Some interviewees work at the hotels but are employed by subcontracted staffing companies instead of the actual hotel companies. Due to difficulties in gaining access to the subcontracted workers we only managed to interview three such workers. Therefore it is hard to draw general con-

clusions from only their accounts but these workers are a vulnerable group and their stories provide insight into the world of recruitment agencies and sub-recruiters in sending countries.

Swedwatch also conducted a research trip to Dubai – visiting the hotels and doing follow-up interviews with several workers, often in the accommodations provided by their employers. Two embassy officials were also interviewed. These officials have requested not to be named but both represent countries that send many migrant workers to Dubai.

Finally the representatives of the tour operators were interviewed to provide background information and elaborate on the sustainability work of the respective companies. They were also given the opportunity to read the report before the launch.

3. Companies and human rights

The research and recommendations in this report are based on the UNGP. This is a framework developed to clarify corporate responsibilities regarding human rights. The UNGP distinguish between the state *duty to protect* against human rights abuses and the corporate *responsibility to respect* human rights.

In this context human rights are defined, as a minimum, as the rights in the International Bill of Human Rights along with fundamental labour rights in the core conventions of the International Labour Organization.¹¹ In addition to these basic rights, a company should also respect the rights of groups that require particular attention, such as migrant workers and their families.

A central concept here is human rights due diligence. The process of due diligence should include assessing actual and potential human rights impacts, integrating and acting upon the findings, tracking responses, and communicating how impacts are addressed. This should not only be done when moving into new areas but be an ongoing process, recognizing that human rights risks may change over time.

Other central concepts are linkage and leverage. Linkage describes how a company can be linked to adverse human rights impacts through a business relationship – for instance a tour operator's relationship with the hotels they use. The concept of leverage is the ability of company to effect change when the business partner is causing or contributing to an adverse human rights impact.¹²

FACT

United Nations Guiding Principles for Business and Human Rights

To respect human rights according to the UNGP, businesses must take measures to address adverse human right impacts. These measures include prevention, mitigation and, when needed, remediation. In order to meet these requirements a company should: 1) Have a policy commitment regarding human rights. 2) Conduct on-going human rights due diligence to identify actual and potential adverse human rights impacts. 3) Establish mechanisms to enable remediation of any adverse human rights impacts that they are causing and/or contributing to.

According to the UNGP the company's connection to adverse impacts on human rights can take three forms: The company is either (1) causing the impact directly through its activities, (2) contributing to it or (3) being involved because the impact is caused by an entity with which it has a business relationship with and is linked to its own operations.¹³

If the company is at risk of involvement solely because the impact is linked to its operations (for example through a business partner), it does not have responsibility for the impact. According to the UNGP that responsibility lies with the business partner. Therefore the company does not have to provide remediation. However, the company still has a responsibility to use its leverage to encourage the other entity (the business partner responsible for the impact) to prevent or mitigate its recurrence.¹⁴

When a company is only linked to adverse human rights impacts through a business partner the primary responsibility is forward-looking, to avoid the impact from continuing or recurring. The way to go about this depends on the nature of the "linkage". If the leverage is there, a company should exercise it to prevent and mitigate adverse impacts. If the company lacks leverage it should seek to increase it, for example by collaborating with other actors.¹⁵

What leverage a company has on a business partner is dependent on several factors. Such as the terms of contract between the parties, the proportion of business the enterprise represents for the business partner or the harm that would be caused to the partners reputation if the relationship was withdrawn.¹⁶

4. A billion dollar trip

The global tourism industry is booming. In 2014 approximately 1.1 billion tourists travelled abroad – an increase by 4.7 percent compared to 2013. According to the World Tourism Organization the industry has grown for five consecutive years since the crisis of 2009, and the number of international travels is expected to grow by three to four percent globally during 2015.¹⁷

Travel and tourism contributes 9.5 percent of the global GDP and generates high levels of employment. Nearly 266 million jobs were related to travel and tourism in 2013 – one in eleven out of every job in the world.¹⁸



supervisor Filipino »Our cleaners sometimes get 30 rooms per

person.«

The UN task team on the Post-2015 development agenda specifically mentions tourism as a force to generate economic development and poverty reduction.¹⁹ However, the sustainability challenges within this sector are substantial, both when it comes to environmental impacts and human rights risks such as poor working conditions.

An important subsector of tourism is the hotel business, and a growing number of people are migrating to work in hotels. But according to the International Labour Organization (ILO) migrants are often paid less and remain at lower skill levels than locals.²⁰

In the Middle East, tourism is expected to grow by five percent during 2015.²¹ The main tourism destination of the region is Dubai, where the Department of Tourism has a plan to double the number of international tourists in five years.²² Considering this planned course of action the demand for migrant workers, particularly the low skilled ones, can be expected to remain high during this decade.

5. Dubai

Dubai is one of the seven emirates that make up the UAE – which is a rich nation with one of the highest per capita incomes in the world.²³ Each emirate has large degree of independence, but a supreme council of rulers made up by the seven emirs governs the UAE. The president is Sheikh Khalifa bin Zayed, the ruler of Abu Dhabi.²⁴

About 10 percent of the world's total known oil reserves are located in the UAE. About a tenth of this is in Dubai and the rest in Abu Dhabi. While the Abu Dhabi oil reserves are expected to last for a hundred years – the Dubai reserves are estimated to last only about ten years.²⁵

Originally it was the oil industry that drew huge numbers of foreign workers to the UAE. But as Dubai was forced to reduce the economy's dependency on oil by focusing on the financial, construction and tourism sectors the dependence on foreign labour remained.²⁶



Today the UAE is one of the most dynamic economies in the Middle East with a modern infrastructure and highly developed commercial sector. Emiratis, who make up about 15 percent of the population are guaranteed a high living standard, including free education and health care. While locals work predominantly in the public sector, the migrant workers are mainly found in the private sector. There are no political parties or trade unions.²⁷

There is no minimum wage in the UAE and no income tax, making Dubai a lucrative place to do business. ²⁸ However, to make up for losses due to the recent fall in oil prices, the government is considering to introduce both value added tax (VAT) and a corporate tax.²⁹

United Arab Emirates

Population: 8,2 million (2010 est.) International migrants: 83,7% of total population (2013). GDP: \$269.8 billion (2013 est.) GDP per capita: \$29,900 (2013 est.) GDP growth: 4% (2013 est.) Inflation rate: 1.3% (2013 est.) Life expectancy at birth: 77.1 years Infant mortality rate: 10.92 deaths/1,000 live births

The UAE is ranked 40 out of 187 countries in the UNDP Human Development Index 2014. And ranked 25 out of 174 countries in the Transparency International Corruption Perception Index.

Sources: CIA World Factbook, UNDP, Transparency International.

5.1 Creating luxury

To a large extent Dubai lacks both natural and historical attractions. Even so, the emirate has managed to create a thriving tourism industry geared towards shopping, luxury and man-made attractions such as some of the world's tallest and most well-known buildings.

As a result, tourism is now a main component of the economy. Hotels and restaurants accounted for five percent of GDP in 2013, but tourism in a broader sense is a big creator of economic growth and officials have indicated that as much as 30 percent of the GDP is tourism related.³⁰

According to the Dubai Department of tourism and commerce the target for the future is to strengthen the economy by attracting new visitors and increasing investment. The goal is to reach 20 million yearly visitors by 2020 when Dubai is hosting the World Expo.³¹



During the preparations for the World Expo the hotel industry is considered a main driver of employment – and recruitment is growing faster than in any other sector. In 2014 the government of Dubai estimated that at least 91 hotels would open in the coming two years.³²

5.2 Human rights under pressure

The UAE is lagging behind with respect to human rights protection. The country has not signed or ratified the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights or the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights.

Freedom of expression is guaranteed in the constitution but in reality these rights are limited.³³ Civil society organisations and Non-governmental organizations are strictly monitored and may be shut down by the authorities.³⁴

The authorities have been accused of arbitrary detentions and torture. According to Human Rights Watch (HRW) the courts invoke repressive laws to prosecute government critics. However, the main criticism regards exploitation of migrant workers.³⁵

5.3 Waves of workers

The first migrant workers came to the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) region to work in the oil industry.³⁶ Migration surged after the increase in oil prices during the 1970's and workers hailed primarily from other Arab states. But the governments in the region felt that the workers brought dangerous political views with them from their home countries, and worried that these ideas could threaten their rule. These concerns culminated in 1991 when Iraq invaded GCC-member Kuwait. Some Arab states sided with Iraq and therefore their citizens were regarded as a security threat.³⁷



Shane, 32 Food & Beverage Filipino

»There is no fairness. They treat filippinos differently.« So the Arab migrant workers in the GCC region were replaced by Asians. In later years the demand for labour has diversified, and today the construction workers are joined by large numbers of domestic workers and workers in the services sector.³⁸

Money sent home by migrant workers is referred to as remittances and in 2014 foreigners working in the six GCC states sent home more than \$100 billion dollars in remittances. Saudi Arabia tops the list with \$44 billion with the UAE coming in at second with \$29 billion.³⁹

The migrant workforce in the UAE has the lowest educational profile of all GCC-countries, after Oman, with 49 percent having little or no education.⁴⁰ But officially these workers are not migrants – but "temporary contractual labourers" who have no chance of permanent settlement or becoming citizens. They can only enter the country with a fixed term employment contract and have to leave once the employment is terminated.⁴¹

As a result the average time of permanence in the country is one to four years. However, almost 30 percent of the migrant workers in the UAE have stayed in the country for a decade or more.⁴² There are also large numbers of illegal migrant workers in the country. During a series of crackdowns last year more than 7,785 undocumented migrants were arrested.⁴³

5.3.1 Empty promises

Because of the extensive restrictions on the labour market in Dubai, many potential migrants apply for jobs in their home countries – and this is often where the recruitment takes place. This has resulted in a system heavily dependent on local recruitment agencies that play a big role in shaping the migrants' lives in the host country.

These recruiters, as well as sub-recruiters, in the sending countries often charge migrants for their services. Fees are generally high in relation to the prospective migrants' income – forcing them to use savings, sell possessions or take loans in order to obtain possible employment.

As a result workers are often in debt in the early stages of migration, maybe even before they board the plane. Sometimes it takes years to pay of this debt and during this time the worker may have no other option but to endure harsh conditions.⁴⁴



According to Andrew Ross, labour studies scholar and professor at New York University, the fees can trap a worker in debt bondage. The average worker arrives in the UAE with \$2,000 in debt – a huge amount for a migrant worker. Since they do not have the right to stay in the country without their sponsor they end up in a very vulnerable position.⁴⁵

An embassy official of a sending country, who was interviewed by Swedwatch with the promise of anonymity, explains how it can take months for the worker to pay the debt.

- There are some very unscrupulous recruiters out there. It is all about money. They treat human beings like a commodity. But even some legal recruiters charge illegal fees. Sometimes they even partner up with money lenders who charge unreasonable interests.

Deception about wages, as well as living and working conditions, is common. In many cases, a recruiter will give the migrant information about the contract and the worker will agree to a certain wage – only to arrive and discover that the actual wage is hundreds of dollars less per month. Thus the pressure to pay off their debts increases, which can force migrants to accept conditions that they would not accept otherwise.⁴⁶

Sending states are often aware of the need to protect citizens working abroad. In some cases laws have been drafted and government bodies created to minimize the risk for migrant workers.⁴⁷ But according to Migrant Forum in Asia there are serious gaps between the formal procedure and the actual experience of the migrant workers in the recruitment process.⁴⁸

Charging a migrant for recruitment is illegal in the UAE but is still a widespread practice. In many cases the fees are charged in the sending country where this is not illegal. However, the ILO claims that even though the recruitment fees are charged in another country the problem originates in the GCC countries' lack of attention to malpractices. According to an ILO study from 2011 no serious efforts in combating forced labour of migrant workers have been recorded in the region in the recent years.⁴⁹

5.4 Labour law

The UAE labour law does not allow the formation of trade unions.⁵⁰ Besides mediation by the ministry of labour, the only way for an employee to seek redress is through the courts.⁵¹ Although the law does not explicitly prohibit strikes there is no legal protection for workers who strike and a migrant worker who strikes may be suspended, fired or deported.⁵²



The labour law applies to all employees except for domestic workers, agricultural workers or those working for the government or other public bodies. In the Dubai economic free zones (like Dubai International Financial Centre or Dubai Airport Free Zone) different legislation may apply.

Rachel, 34 Housekeeping Coordinator Filipino

»Of all my relatives only my mother is still in the Philippines. The rest are all in Dubai.«

There is no minimum wage in the UAE. The maximum prescribed working hours for an adult is eight hours per day (or 48 hours per week) – but this can be increased to nine hours per day if the worker is employed in hotels, cafeterias or as a guard. An employee may not work more than five consecutive hours and is entitled to overtime pay if and when overtime is needed. However, more than two hours of overtime daily is only allowed in extreme cases.

After a year of employment the worker is entitled to 30 days leave with pay. If a worker has worked for six months but not the full year, he or she is entitled to two days of leave for every month of service.

After three months of service (following the probation period) the worker may go on sick leave with full salary for the first 15 days (and with half salary for the following 30 days). An employee cannot be dismissed from service during sick leave.

An employer may terminate an employment contract without notice and with immediate effect under certain circumstances, for example if the employee commits a mistake causing the employer a substantial financial loss.⁵³

The labour ministry has taken steps to modernize the labour law, and in 2006 the minister announced that a new law was drafted. However as of 2014 no changes had been made to allow freedom of association or collective bargaining rights.⁵⁴

There have been some changes through ministerial decisions and resolutions to address some of the more common labour and employment problems that are part of the sponsorship system – known as kafala.55

United Arab Emirates and the ILO

The UAE have ratified six out of eight ILO core conventions. The two conventions not ratified are number 87: "The Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention". And number 98: "Right to Organise and Collective Bargaining Convention".

5.5 Kafala

The rights of migrant workers in Dubai are regulated by a practice known as kafala. Kafala, having both formal and informal aspects, does not concern the actual employment – but rather governs the migrant workers' immigration to and legal residence in the UAE.⁵⁶

Kafala means sponsorship and the core principle of the system is that every worker needs a local sponsor (a kafeel) to obtain a work permit. This work permit only allows the migrant to work for that particular sponsor, who not only is the employer but also takes financial and legal responsibility for the migrant.⁵⁷ In reality this binds the migrant worker to the sponsor and to a particular job for a specific period of time (usually two years). During the stay the worker relies on the sponsor for his or her legal right to stay in the country.⁵⁸



Romeo, 29 Housekeeping Filipino

»We sometimes work from 9 to 9. Not all of it is paid.« The sponsor applies for the visa on behalf of the worker and is also financially responsible for repatriating the worker when the contract is fulfilled or terminated.⁵⁹ The system is a way for governments to delegate responsibility for migrants to private citizens or companies.⁶⁰

Kafala was created in the 1950's to minimize the three main risks perceived with having large numbers of foreign workers in the country: 1) Migrant workers were considered a security dilemma. 2) There were fears that migrants who become citizens would dilute the indigenous culture. 3) There were concerns that educated workers would keep nationals from jobs in the private sector. Thus the sponsorship system was devised to prevent migrants from putting down permanent roots.

The system has guaranteed a steady supply of cheap labour. At the same time, since kafala is preventing migrants from putting down formal roots, the perceived impact of immigration on security, culture and national identity is minimized.⁶¹

The regulation of visas and work permits through the kafala system has created a severely restricted labour market.⁶² There are basically three ways for a migrant worker to enter Dubai: 1) Recruitment through an agency in their home country. 2) Direct recruitment by companies in Dubai that set up operations abroad. 3) Coming



to Dubai on a tourist visa and then changing to a working visa after finding employment. The last method is a relatively liberal feature of the UAE system and reflects the country's huge demand for workers.

According to an announcement in september 2015 the UAE plans labour reforms intended to protect foreign workers. In the past however such reforms, intended to make it easier for migrant workers to change jobs and sponsors, have mainly benefited highly educated workers.

Chris, 40 Restaurant Assistant Manager Filipino

»Even if we hold the same position, a westener or arab will have higher wages.« Among these past reforms of the UAE kafala system is a law passed by the government in 2010 intended to make it easier for a migrant worker to change employers.⁶³ According to this law a worker can be granted a new work permit if two conditions are met: If the worker has spent more than two years with the first employer, and if the employment ends by mutual agreement – the employee gets a so-called "No objection-certificate" (NOC) from the old employer.

There are exceptions to the mutual agreement rule, for example if the worker is fired, the firm is closed or a court rules in favour of the employee in a labour complaint. The only exception to the two-year rule is if the worker is offered a new position which (for the least educated workers) pays 5,000 dirhams (about 1,350 USD) a month.⁶⁴

Since 5,000 dirhams is substantially more than most uneducated workers earn, this exception only applies to a small number of workers. A worker earning less needs to complete two years of service and get the employers consent to change jobs. If these conditions are not met the workers get a six to twelve month employment ban, even if they have consent from the old employer.

If a work permit is cancelled the worker is given 30 days to leave the country. If the worker does not leave, he or she is considered overstaying and must pay penalty fees for each day of overstay.

An employer is required to report any foreign worker who is absent from his place of work for seven or more consecutive days without prior notification. The worker is then considered absconding and will be deported. He or she is also permanently banned from the country. Sponsors failing to report absconding workers are subject to heavy fines.

If a migrant worker has a falling out with his or her employer and leaves, the sponsor can request the Ministry of Labour to cancel the worker's labour card and residency permit. The worker is then required to leave the UAE within 30 days.⁶⁵



Workers at all three hotels claim that their working hours are well above the legal maximum, and that they do not recieve the overtime pay that they are entitled to according to the labour law.



Kafala is used to govern labour migration in all GCC countries and for many migrant workers in Lebanon and Jordan. Although the systems are similar in many ways there are differences, in Qatar for instance the worker needs written permission from the sponsor in order to leave the country.

6. Kafala and forced labour

Forced labour can take many forms. However, according to the ILO the distinct feature is that the perpetrators use different types of coercion. The means of coercion can be physical but are more often more subtle – like deception, threats, and manipulation of wages.⁶⁶

The ILO points out two main mechanisms behind the forced labour process: abusive recruitment and failures in wage payment systems. Wage manipulations, including wage deductions, debt manipulations or simply the non-payment of wages is a powerful way to force workers to remain in conditions that they would not accept otherwise.⁶⁷

Another way is for the employer to require workers to hand over their passports or other identity papers or use the threat of confiscation of these documents to force the employee to work. Thus a withheld passport is a clear indicator of forced labour and a violation of the workers' rights. Other instruments of coercion are induced indebtedness and threatening migrant workers with deportation to their home countries.⁶⁸

All these features are to some extent present either in the formal or informal aspects of the kafala system and the kafala system has been pointed out by the ILO as conducive to the exaction of forced labour.⁶⁹ According to Global Slavery Index, even when the kafala system is not directly responsible for the prevalence of slavery and forced labour, it is still problematic because it effectively ties a migrant worker's legal status to the employer.⁷⁰

The UN has a number of standards and principles on forced labour, like article 23 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, which provides that everyone has the right to free choice of employment.⁷¹

The right for everyone to gain his or her living by work that is freely chosen and accepted is also elaborated on in the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights.⁷²

Furthermore, the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families states that no migrant worker should be required to perform forced or compulsory labour.⁷³

7. What we found

Half an hour by car from downtown Dubai with its white beaches and spectacular skyscrapers lies one of many areas where migrant workers live. The area is a maze of low concrete buildings where busses transport migrant workers to and from their accommodations at all times. In these dusty crowded streets, where many different languages are spoken, lie the buildings where the hotel companies house their migrant workers.

Swedwatch entered worker accommodations of all three hotel companies in order to interview migrant workers. In all three cases a security guard manned the front desk and the entrance was covered by several security cameras. Further into the accommodation the lights are dim and in some cases naked wires hang from the ceiling.

At first the workers are reluctant to discuss their experiences. Some of them have signed non-disclosure agreements while others are simply afraid that the employers will learn about them talking about working conditions. But when assured about their anonymity they tell their stories, about the realities of working at a hotel and about how they came to Dubai.

Despite their different backgrounds and employers the workers' motivations for coming to Dubai are similar. Most of them (20 workers) came to Dubai for economic reasons – to provide for family members back home or to avoid unemployment and low salaries in their home country. Some said that they wanted to travel or get experience from the hotel sector (3 workers). The rest preferred not to say (7 workers).

Most complaints regard the workload, the working hours and the lack of overtime pay. Another issue is the lack of transparency in the payment of salaries. Since the workers do not receive a pay slip it is impossible for them to know if they have been paid correctly. Other complaints are regarding conflicts at work, racial discrimination and cases of harassment.

A recurring theme in the interviews is the sponsorship system and the highly controlled labour market where the workers are tied to their employers for the duration of their two-year contract. Several of them claim that they would change employers if it would not lead to a labour ban or result in them being forced to pay the employer back for the costs of recruiting them.

7.1 Recruitment and passports

Confiscating passports or other travel documents is illegal in the UAE. It is also in violation of the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All



unlawful for anyone other than a public official to confiscate passports or equivalent identity documents.⁷⁴

Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families, which states that it is

Only two out of 30 interviewed workers state that they are holding their own passports. Antonio, 38, left the Philippines to get experience from the hotel sector but now he feels forced to work.

- We don't hold our passports, the HR-department has them. We can request them, but we won't get them unless it's to renew our visas or when we are leaving for our vacation.

Roy, 38 Housekeeping Filipino

»I was happy when I got this job. Because now I would finally support my family.« One worker mentions that some employers hold the workers' passport until the contract is finished and only gives it back at the airport when the worker is flying home – so they can punish the worker for not renewing the contract by preventing them from finding another job.

Regarding recruitment fees UAE law states that no costs related to recruitment should be paid by the employee.⁷⁵ ILO Convention 181: The Private Employment Agencies Convention also prohibits private employment agencies from charging any fees or costs to workers.⁷⁶

But workers at two of the hotels, twelve of thirty interviewed workers, state that they paid either for recruitment or for expenses related to recruitment, like medical examinations or visa costs.⁷⁷ The amount paid range from \$200 to \$400 or more. In some cases the employer covered these expenses and will charge the worker this amount if he or she does not fulfil the contract.

Romeo, 29, left the Philippines to earn money and provide for his children. - If you don't finish your two-year contract but want to leave after one year, you have to pay back half the recruitment cost. You have to pay 3000-4000 dirhams in order for you to get your passport. You cannot do anything about it unless you pay.

7.2 Working conditions and salaries

The UAE labour law states that the maximum prescribed working hours for hotel workers are nine hours per day. If the employee has to work overtime he or she is entitled to overtime pay equivalent of the normal wages plus an additional amount of no less than 25 percent.⁷⁸

Along the same lines, ILO states that normal working hours should not exceed eight in one day and 48 in one week.⁷⁹ Long hours without overtime pay can also be a breach of article 23 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights which states that everyone has the right to just and favourable conditions of work as well as just and favourable remuneration for their work.⁸⁰

However, our interviewees describe working hours that are substantially longer than the legal maximum. Working days as long as twelve hours are common at all three hotels. This, along with the lack of overtime pay, is a violation of both local law and international conventions.

Chen, 31, from Burma sometimes cleans 24 rooms in one shift. - According to my contract I should work nine hours per day, but there are so many rooms to clean that I sometime work twelve hour shifts. When we work longer hours we don't get any overtime pay, only 2 dirhams per extra room.

The housekeepers explain how their departments are constantly understaffed and that the workload regularly increases when the group has to cover for workers who are on sick leave or absent for other reasons, like training new employees. The lack of staff means that room attendants in some cases have to clean up to 30 rooms in a day.

Roy, 38, saves money for his children's college education. He never went to college and don't want his children to end up as labourers in the Middle East like him. - These two years in housekeeping have been one of the most difficult experiences of my life. We don't get any proper rest and are constantly overworked, doing longer hours than we signed up for. But if I only got paid properly for the job I'd be able to do it.

Dubai has no minimum wage. A reality of kafala is that all migrant workers are on temporary contracts with little room for negotiations regarding salaries. Since there are no unions and no collective bargaining the only way to increase the salary is to look for a new job, which is difficult, if not impossible. Thus the main concern regarding salaries is the overtime pay.

The interviewed workers have monthly salaries ranging from 800 dirhams (approximately \$215) for housekeepers and room attendants, to 2500 dirhams (approximately \$680) for managers. This is a basic salary and in addition to this the workers often receive food allowance in some form and have free accommodation. Sometimes the workers also receive tips.

7.3 Exploitation of subcontracted staff

Three of the interviewed migrants work at the hotels but are employed by subcontracting companies. One of them is a Pakistani security guard who came to Dubai as a tourist but changed to a working visa once he found employment with the subcontractor. He works long hours without overtime pay but is generally treated the same as any other worker.

The other two are subcontracted housekeepers from Uganda and Kenya. Just like the other interviewees they have had their passports confiscated but in addition to this, they were also drastically misled during the recruitment process.



Christina, 40 Food & Beverage Filipino

»We work overtime when it is busy. But it's not paid. « are similar. Recruiters in their home countries falsified documents to lure them to Dubai where they were forced to accept work under conditions that have several characteristics of forced labour - which in all forms is prohibited according to international law. Together with the confiscation of passports and the threat of deportation inherent in the sponsorship system, this creates a situation where the worker becomes trapped.

Even though they come from different countries the two workers' stories

The workers claim to be trapped by three main factors. The first is high recruitment fees, that caused them to sell land or other property to pay for their employment. While it is illegal to charge the employee for recruitment in the UAE it might be legal in the sending country.

Andrew, 23, from Kenya works for a subcontractor as a hotel steward - The pastor in my village is a much respected religious figure. He introduced me to a recruiting agent who promised me a well-paid job in Dubai. So I sold the land that I had inherited from my father. Selling your

land is a big taboo for us but I did it anyway because I made a calculation based on the contract I signed and thought that I would be able to buy the land back and still have money over to buy a house.

The second factor is contract substitution, which means that when the worker arrives in Dubai the contract that they signed back home is replaced by one with lower salary and a different job description. Fear of losing the recruitment fee forces the worker to sign the new contract.

- When I came to Dubai I was picked up at the airport by a man who took my passport and all my papers. He took me to the staffing company where they said that my contract was not valid because they did not know the agent who hired me. If I did not sign a new contract I would be sent home. So I signed. I had no choice. My land was gone, and the only way to buy it back was to work here in Dubai, says Andrew.

Read Andrew's story in full on page 25

The third factor is illegal deductions, which means that the employer takes money out of the employee's salary. According to the labour law such deductions are only legal under specific circumstances like repayment of advances or if the employee has



	Hotel #1	Hotel #2	Hotel #3		
Interviewed workers	13 workers interviewed	8 workers interviewed	9 workers interviewed		
Withheld passports	YES	YES	YES Three workers at this hotel state that they are holding their own passports. While the rest state that the employer withholds their passports.		
Illegal overtime	YES	YES	YES		
Workers at all three hotels state that they somtimes work shifts as long as 12 hours.					
Non-existent overtime pay	YES	YES	YES		
Workers at all three hotels state that they never recieve the overtime pay that they are entitled to by law.					
Recruitment fees	YES One worker state that he paid for recruitment but was reimbursed.	YES	NO		
Problems specific for subcontracted workers					
• Abusive recruiting practices	-	-	YES		
 Illegal decutions of salary 	-	-	YES		

Abusive recruiting practices	-	-
• Illegal decutions of salary	-	-
• Contract substitution	-	-

These are all phenomena described by subcontracted workers. However, Swedwatch could only interview such workers at hotel number three.

YES

caused damages. These illegal deductions makes it difficult for the worker to protest against abusive behaviour.81

James, 22, from Uganda works for a subcontractor as a hotel steward at the same hotel. He sold both his mother's business and his own in order to pay for recrutiment. - They offered me 1500 dirhams if I work for 12 hours every day. But I don't get my whole salary and I don't get it on time. When I ask them why not, they say that they are deducting for money spent on my bus card and my medical examination. My first pay was 686 dirhams.

These factors put the worker in such a vulnerable position that they do not use the available means of legal recourse (through the labour office or courts) due to the threat of deportation.

- When my friend got sick they took him to the hospital but did not pay the bill. When he could not work, two men came and deported him back to Uganda. They said that he only pretended to be sick and that his work did not keep up with the company standard, says James who share a small room with five other workers.

8. The tour operators and Dubai

8.1 Apollo

Apollo is Sweden's third largest tour operator and until September 2015 owned by Swiss travel group Kuoni.⁸² Kuoni Nordic (Apollo in Sweden, Finland, Norway and Denmark) has nearly 900 employees and a total of 1 million travellers annually to destinations worldwide.83

Apollo is currently making a move to drastically increase their volumes to

Dubai. In 2015 approximately 15,000 people will travel with Apollo from

nation, after the Canary Islands and Thailand. The plan is to double the

number of visitors next year and double it again the year after that.⁸⁴

the Nordic countries to Dubai, making it Apollos third largest winter desti-



According to Kajsa Moström, communication and CSR manager, Apollo has performed a risk analysis regarding human rights in Dubai. This analysis showed that Dubai is a high-risk destination and Moström specifies

the discrimination of migrant workers as a primary risk.⁸⁵

Logistics Filipino

» If you terminate your contract, you have to pay the company.« All Apollo hotels and other suppliers must sign the "Supplier Code of Conduct" of parent company Kuoni where the supplier agrees to comply with specific ethical guidelines. The Apollo website states that these guidelines give the company the power to act if there is any suspicion, that people are being abused or harmed. The code mentions international conventions only when referring to child labour or sexual exploitation of children.⁸⁶

Andrew's story

My name is Andrew and I am a Massai from the Rift valley in Kenya. I am the first born son in my family, but I had to quit my university education because I did not have the money. The pastor in my village is a much respected religious figure. He introduced me to a recruiting agent who promised me a well-paid job in Dubai. The agent showed me names and photographs of hundreds of people that she said she had helped earn big money.

So I sold the land that I had inherited from my father. Selling your land is a big taboo for us but I did it anyway because I made

a calculation based on the contract I signed and thought that I would be able to buy the land back and still have money over to buy a house. And for education - for me and even maybe for my sister. My dream was to become an important person in our community. When I came to Dubai I was picked up at the airport by a man who took

my passport and all my papers. He took me to the staffing company where they said that my contract was not valid because they did not know the agent who hired me. If I did not sign a new contract I would be sent home. So I signed. I had no choice. My land was gone, and the only way to buy it back was to work here in Dubai. The company got me different jobs clea-

ning and parking cars.

Then I ended up working as a steward at one of the big hotels. Every day I was picked up from the accommodation in a bus and driven to the hotel, where I entered through a side door.

A foreman from the staffing company told me what to do, I never talked I had to get up and take the bus at five in the morning. The bus brought

to the hotel foremen. I worked from seven in the morning to seven in the evening and had to stand up the whole time. I could not go on a break and could not take the days off that were my right, according to the contract. our staff to many different locations so the trip takes hours. After work I have to wait for the bus for maybe an hour and sometimes I don't get back until one or two at night.

hotel.

At the accommodation we are free to come and go as we like. But who has the energy after a day like that? After a month I asked to be transferred to another

> I cannot survive working like this. But my family is depending on the money I send home. There is nothing wrong with bringing people here to work. But it is not right to treat people like this. If I had known this would happen I would not have sold my land. It is impossible for me to come home empty handed.«



Iose, 29 Finance/Ticketing Filipino

»I want to leave this job, but I can't because I will have to pay the company.«

The code states that the supplier must follow international and national law. All forms of forced labour are forbidden and all employees shall be free to terminate their employment through their own choice, when they choose to do so and without penalty. The supplier must also recognize the freedom of association and the right to collective bargaining.⁸⁷ But according to Kajsa Moström Apollo is not actively engaged in efforts for labour rights in Dubai.

Kajsa Moström explains that the staff responsible for the contact with the hotels have instructions to report any breach of the code. They can also request that the auditor Travelife conducts an audit.⁸⁸ But Apollo has not requested any such audit in Dubai because there, according to Apollo, have been no indications that the code is not being followed by the hotels.⁸⁹

In case of breaches of the terms in the code Kuoni reserves the right to immediately terminate any contract and cooperation with the supplier as well as to take any further legal action.⁹⁰

The Kuoni group has a written statement on human rights. According to this statement the group is committed to respecting and supporting human rights as contained in the UNGP and the ILO Core Conventions. This commitment applies to the entire group as well as to counterparts within the tourism supply chain.

The document states that Kuoni conducts human rights due diligence in sensitive destinations and promotes best practice. The Group Internal Audit reviews and reports on the conditions of human rights within the operations and Kuoni encourages the reporting of any transgressions against this statement - by individuals, organisations, businesses or others.91

According to the Kuoni sustainability report the group adheres to the UNWTO Global Code of Ethics for Tourism⁹² and is a member of the Roundtable of human rights in tourism⁹³ that acknowledges the Bill of Human Rights and the ILO Labour standards. It also welcomes the UNGPs and "commit to our human rights responsibility and due diligence in tourism".⁹⁴

8.2 Ving

Every year 650.000 people travel with Ving to more than 400 destinations in 50 countries. The company has 180 employees and is part of the Thomas Cook group, listed on the London stock exchange.95

In 2015 Ving will fly approximately 1,000 people to Dubai, making it a minor destination. According to Magdalena Öhrn, Head of Communication at Ving, the company uses a local agent who signs contracts with the hotels, which is a standard setup when Ving does not own neither hotels nor airlines.⁹⁶

According to Ving, sustainability is to meet the company's needs without jeopardizing the future of the communities the company works in. This means doing business in a responsible way, for the environment but also with regards to social responsibility.⁹⁷

Without specifying how, the company website states that Ving will strive to ensure that working conditions include the freedom to join a labour union, minimum wages, a sound working environment and regulated working hours.98

> Dubai has been a destination for Ving since 2004 but according to Magdalena Öhrn the company has not performed any due diligence regarding human rights for the destination.

> There is no code of operations signed by the company's suppliers, only clauses in the contract. But in the case of Dubai this contract is signed by the agent and does not extend to the hotels in Dubai. According to Magdalena Öhrn this means that the hotels they use have not signed anything ensuring that they live up to the commitments of Ving. Instead the company relies on the personal meeting and trust between Ving and their agent in Dubai.

If there were to be any violations Ving contacts the agent or hotel and tries to improve the issue. If there is no improvement, or no will to improve, the company might terminate the contract. 99

The sustainability policies of parent company Thomas Cook do not men-

was promoted within tion human or labour rights. The sustainability report from 2014 however months.« states that suppliers are expected to meet the legal requirements of their country. Thomas Cook also states that suppliers are required to address any specific issues of concern that may not be covered in their own laws. In the report Thomas Cook recognize the UNGPs and state that it is aligned with the UN Global Compact.¹⁰⁰

8.3 Fritidsresor

Krista, 36

(former) Filipino

Housekeeping

Coordinator

»We had

a brittish

worker. She

Fritidsresor is the biggest tour operator in Sweden. It is part of Germany based TUI group, which is the world's leading tourism group. According to the Fritidsresor website TUI Nordic has a 20 percent share of the Nordic market.¹⁰¹

Dubai has been a destination for Fritidsresor for 24 years. Although between 1991 and 2005 there was a break due to the situation in Iraq. The company's prognosis is that 6,300 people will travel to Dubai with Fritidsresor this year, making it a minor destination for the company.

Mikael Edwards, Head of Crisis Management & Sustainable Business Development at Fritidsresor, explains that the company performs risk analysis concerning human rights at destinations considered high risk. However, since the volumes to Dubai are so small, the company has focused their human rights work on other destinations.¹⁰²

Most of the migrant workers interviewed by Swedwatch came to Dubai to provide for relatives who stayed in the home country. Many workers left children and other family members behind.

1





Jim, 24 Restaurant & Housekeeping Filipino

»We use subcontracted workers for cleaning. They have different rights.« All Fritidsresor suppliers sign the "Sustainable Development Contract Addendum" of parent company TUI, which states that suppliers must comply with local employment legislation. The document only refers to ILO conventions concerning child labour.¹⁰³

According to their website, Fritidsresor conducts controls to ensure that suppliers live up to the clauses in the "Sustainable Development Contract Addendum". There are also check-ups regarding working conditions as a part of the Health, Safety & Sustainability Audits.¹⁰⁴

Edwards says it can be difficult to ensure that hotels live up to the clauses in the "Sustainable Development Contract Addendum". To a large extent Fritidsresor depends on random controls and self-assessments. One weak area, says Mikael Edwards, is the relationships between supplier and sub-supplier where insight is limited.¹⁰⁵

In the 2013 Sustainable Holidays report from parent company TUI, the company acknowledges the UNGP and states that it has a number of policies and initiatives in place to identify, prevent, mitigate and account for their work on addressing human rights issues. One of them is the

"Supplier Code of Conduct" that sets minimum standards that TUI expects from suppliers regarding human rights and labour laws.¹⁰⁶

The code of conduct states that suppliers must treat their employees with dignity and respect, as defined by the ILO or applicable law as well as to ensure that agencies that provide migrant workers also complies with the laws of both sending and receiving countries.

Furthermore, all forced and involuntary labour is forbidden and no suppliers may "require workers to surrender any government-issued identification, passports, or work permits as a condition of employment". Additionally no worker should be required to pay for their recruitment and shall be free to leave their employment through their own choice.

According to the document suppliers shall also ensure that working hours comply with national law, that employees are provided all legally mandated benefits and that they are paid for their work in a timely manner.¹⁰⁷

Fritidsresor claims to act on all violations and reserves the right to terminate contracts if there have been violations, but according to Mikael Edwards this is only used as a last resort. The preferred method is to contact the hotels and try to work together to improve conditions.¹⁰⁸

9. Analysis and conclusions

By examining working conditions at hotels marketed to Swedish consumers this report reveals that the featured tour operators lack awareness on adverse human rights impacts in Dubai.

All three tour operators have policies regarding human rights. In practice, however, there is limited knowledge about adverse human rights impacts resulting from working conditions at the hotels that they use in Dubai.

All but two of the interviewed migrant workers state that the employers withhold their passports and all of them say that they work many hours above the legal maximum. Sometimes the days are twelve hours long, without overtime pay. At two of the hotels workers say that they were charged for recruitment.

In addition to this subcontracted workers describe how they were lured to Dubai with false contracts and are now trapped. These are all violations not only of national law but also of several international conventions and the companies' own policies on human and labour rights.

The violations that tour operators Ving, Fritidsresor and Apollo are linked to through their business relationships with the hotel companies' fall into two categories: The first category is acute breaches of local labour law and the informal aspects of kafala, while the second concerns the lack of labour rights in Dubai in general.

Violations in the first category are confiscation of passports, excessive overtime, nonexistent overtime payment and illegal recruitment fees. These are all illegal practices that take place at hotels that the Swedish tour operators are linked to by

that take place at hotels that the their business relationships.



Najeeb, 31 Security Guard Pakistani

»They will threaten to deport you back to your country.« The workers that we interviewed only ask for the freedom of holding their own passports and the privilege of being paid in full for the work that they perform – demands that the Swedish companies should use their leverage to fulfil, according to the UNGPs. When the Swedish minister of enterprise Mikael Damberg presented t

When the Swedish minister of enterprise Mikael Damberg presented the Swedish National Action Plan for Business and Human Rights, based on the UNGP, he clearly stated that is was his expectation that all Swedish companies respect human rights.¹⁰⁹

The answers differ when the tour operators are asked whether due diligence regarding human rights has been performed in Dubai. Apollo performed a human rights plotting as a part of the general analysis for every destination while Ving did not perform any risk analysis on human rights. Fritidsresor claims to have focused the company's resources on bigger destinations. The UNGP requires a due diligence process not only to identify and assess adverse human rights impacts but also to act to prevent and mitigate these impacts. These measures should also be tracked and communicated externally.¹¹⁰

The responsibility to perform human rights due diligence is a central concept in the UNGP. Without a proper process to identify, prevent, mitigate and account for how they address human rights impacts Apollo, Fritidsresor and Ving has no way of hand-ling, or even learning about, human rights risks in their supply chain.¹¹¹

The second category of risks is systemic issues related to the UAE, such as the lack of trade unions, the fact that the UAE does not have a minimum wage, as well as the legal aspects of the kafala system. Tackling these practices are harder, since they are the law in Dubai.

However, the corporations' responsibility to respect human rights exists independently of the state's ability or willingness to fulfil their human rights obligations. The Swedish companies are linked to the adverse impacts at the hotels through their busi-



respect the human rights of the workers.

The UNGP recognizes that when a business is linked to adverse human rights impacts through a business relationship the situation is more complex than if the company is directly responsible. However, a company is still required to act on information of adverse rights impacts. If the situation is such that the company lacks leverage to influence the business partner the UNGP states that companies should act to increase their leverage. There are a number of ways to do this.

ness relationships with the hotel companies and have a responsibility to

Chen, 31 Housekeeping Filipino

»Sometimes they cancel my day off and don't pay for it.« A company can increase its leverage by cooperating with other companies or acting through the parent company, which in all three cases are big and influential international groups. The tour operator could also work through joint industry initiatives for human rights. ¹¹²

Companies can work from the ground and up as well. It is not the role of the Swedish tour operators to form unions but they should promote and declare support for workers' right to organize and bargain collectively.

They should also strive to increase workers' opportunities to participate in decisionmaking and channel their views and concerns while they educate workers about their rights and train the management in human rights.

Fritidsresor and Ving both refer to their small volumes when discussing their ability to address adverse human rights impacts in Dubai. According to the UNGPs however, the actual volumes are irrelevant. According to the framework a company should prioritize their Human Rights work not based on the value of their business but on what impacts causes the greatest harm.

If a company has complex supply chains and a multitude of partners then maybe it cannot address all human rights impacts immediately but has to prioritize the work. This prioritization however has to be based not on the volume of travellers but rather on what actual and potential impacts causes the greatest harm to people. This is another case where a company first should seek to prevent and mitigate those impacts that are most severe or where delay would make them irremediable.

A striking aspect is that most violations presented in this report are the result of rather well-known phenomena that probably would have been identified when conducting human rights due diligence. Therefore one might argue that the adverse human rights impacts might have been avoided, or at least mitigated, had only the companies lived up to specifics on human rights due diligence as described in the UNGP.



10. Recommendations to the companies

10.1 Acute recommendations

- Make sure that all hotels used in Dubai, as a minimum, comply with national law. Apollo, Fritidsresor and Ving all have this stated in their policies and should make sure it is followed. This work should also extend to contract workers and agency staff who might not be employed by the hotel.
- Conduct due diligence to identify and mitigate the most salient adverse human rights impacts at hotels in Dubai. The due diligence process should follow the "assess, respond, track and communicate" format that is referenced in the UNGP and in the Swedish National Action Plan for Business and Human Rights. Specific priority should be given to the issues highlighted in this report, such as: confiscation of passports, recruitment fees, overtime payment and excessive overtime.
- Introduce routines for performing follow-ups on compliance with the human rights commitments in the hotel contracts.

10.2 Further recommendations

- Perform human rights due diligence at all destinations, starting with locations where the risk of adverse human rights impacts are most severe, for example where migrant workers constitute a large portion of the work force. The long-term ambition should be to perform human rights due diligence at all destinations worldwide.
- Introduce routines for follow-ups on whether all hotels adhere to the commitments to human rights that they make when signing the contract, starting with locations where the risk of adverse human rights impacts are most severe.
- Introduce a grievance mechanism for the hotel workers. This could be a hotline or another way for the hotel workers to contact the tour operators without going through the hotel companies. The workers should be sufficiently informed and educated about this grievance mechanism.
- Capacity build by increasing the workers' opportunity to participate in decisionmaking and channel their views and concerns. Educate workers about their rights and train the managers in human rights.
- Set up a strategy regarding freedom of association and labour rights in Dubai, including declaring support for workers' right to organize and bargain collectively.
- Seek to increase leverage in order to effect real change regarding labour issues in Dubai. This can be done through cooperation between companies, through the respective parent companies, through joint industry initiatives or together with the Global Union for Farm, Food and Hotel Workers (IUF).
- Use commercial incentives to reward hotels with better social performance. Incentives could be price premiums, volume increases and extended contract durations.

11. Litterature

A Global Alliance Against Forced Labour, ILO 2005

Azfar Khan and Hélène Harroff-Tavel *Reforming the Kafala: Challenges and Opportunities in Moving Forward*, ILO 2011

Azfar Khan and Rola Abimourched *Migrant Workers Rights in Arab States*, ILO 2009

Azfar Khan, Piyasiri Wickramasekara and Lea Moubayed *Travels of Hope, Toils of Despair: The lives of migrant workers in the Gulf States*, ILO 2011

Beate Andrees and Patrick Belser Forced labor: Coercion and exploitation in the private economy, ILO

Culture: a driver and an enabler of sustainable development, Unesco 2015

Developments and challenges in the hospitality and tourism sector, ILO 2010

Dubai's tourism and hospitality sector overview, Emirates NBD 2014

Giving globalization a human face, ILO 2012

Handlingsplan för företagande och mänskliga rättigheter, Regeringskansliet 2015

Human resources development, employment and globalization in the hotel, catering and tourism sector, ILO 2001

The international bill of human rights, UN 1948

International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, UN 1966

International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families, UN 1990

Internationally Recognized Core Labour Standards in the United Arab Emirates, ITUC 2012

Jacqui Boardman and Candida Barbato *Review of socially responsible HR and labour relations practice in international hotel chains*, ILO 2008

Joy Ngozi Ezeilo Report of the Special Rapporteur on trafficking in persons - especially women and children, UN 2013

The Kafala: Research on the Impact and Relation of the Sponsorship System to Migrant Labor Bondage in GCC Countries, Asia Pacific Mission for Migrants 2014

Labour recruitment to the UAE - Gaps between policy and practice in Sri Lanka, Nepal, Bangladesh and the Philippines, Migrant Forum in Asia 2011

Maria Dolores Picot Advancing the Rights of Migrant Workers in the Gulf Cooperation Council: Reforming the Kafala System, EIUC and Ca'Foscari University of Venice 2014

Martin Baldwin-Edwards *Labour immigration and labour markets in the GCC countries: national patterns and trends*, LSE 2011

Noora Lori Temporary Workers or Permanent Migrants? - The Kafala System and Contestations over Residency in the Arab Gulf States, Ifri 2012

Private Employment Agencies Convention (No. 181), ILO 1997

Ray Jureidini Trafficking and Contract Migrant Workers in the Middle East, Center for Migration and Refugee Studies AUC 2010

Realizing a Fair Migration Agenda: Labour flows between Asia and Arab States, ILO 2014

Steven D. Roper and Lilian A. Barria Understanding Variations in Gulf Migration and Labor Practices, Brill 2014

Thinking Beyond Borders - United Arab Emirates, KPMG 2012

Tom Baum Migrant workers in the international hotel industry, ILO 2012

Trafficking in Persons Report, US Department of State 2015

Travel and Tourism - economic impact, World Travel and Tourism Council 2014

United Arab Emirates Labour law, UAE ministry of Labour and Social Affairs, 1980

Endnotes

- ILO http://ilo.org/global/standards/subjects-covered-by-international-labour-standards/migrant-1 workers/lang--en/index.htm
- 2 The emirates are Abu Dhabi, Ajman, Dubai, Fujairah, Ras al-Khaimah, Sharjah, and Umm al-Quwain.
- Business insider http://www.businessinsider.com/most-popular-tourist-destinations-2013-2013-3 6?op=1&IR=T
- Khaleej times http://www.khaleej times.com/article/20140923/ARTICLE/309239974/1037 4
- International migration report wallchart, UN 2013 5
- Global Rights Index, ITUC 2015 6
- Joy Ngozi Ezeilo Report of the Special Rapporteur on trafficking in persons especially women and children, UN 2013
- 8 Mynewsdesk: http://www.mynewsdesk.com/se/ticket-privatresor/pressreleases/svenskarna-villhelst-ha-sol-och-bad-paa-sportlovet-1117384 http://www.mynewsdesk.com/se/ticket-privatresor/pressreleases/hit-reser-svenskarna-ijul-1089703
- Resiabarometern, Resia AB 2014. 9
- UN World Tourism Organization http://ethics.unwto.org/en/content/global-code-ethics-tourism-10 article-9
- ILO http://www.ilo.org/declaration/lang--en/index.htm 11 The international bill of human rights, UN 1948
- The corporate responsibility to respect human rights an interpretive guide, UN 2012 12
- The corporate responsibility to respect human rights an interpretive guide, UN 2012 13
- How to use the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights in company research and 14 advocacy - A guide for civil society organisations, SOMO 2012
- Using Leverage in Business Relationships to Reduce Human Rights Risks, Shift 2013 15
- The corporate responsibility to respect human rights an interpretive guide, UN 2012 16
- 17 UN World Tourism Organization http://media.unwto.org/press-release/2015-01-27/over-11billion-tourists-travelled-abroad-2014
- Travel and Tourism economic impact, World Travel and Tourism Council 2014 18
- Culture: a driver and an enabler of sustainable development, Unesco 2015 19
- Jacqui Boardman and Candida Barbato Review of socially responsible HR and labour relations 20 practice in international hotel chains, ILO 2008
- UN World Tourism Organization http://media.unwto.org/press-release/2015-01-27/over-11-21 billion-tourists-travelled-abroad-2014
- Dubai department of tourism http://www.visitdubai.com/en/department-of-tourism_new/about-22 dtcm/overview
- The world bank http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.CD 23
- http://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-14704227 24
- Zayed University http://www.zu.ac.ae/main/en/_careers/living/story.aspx 25
- BBC http://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-14704227 26
- Country profile, Swedish Foreign Office 2014 27
- 28 Thinking Beyond Borders - United Arab Emirates, KPMG 2012
- The National http://www.thenational.ae/business/economy/20150818/18-month-grace-period-29 when-value-added-tax-is-implemented-in-the-uae-ministry-says
- Dubai's tourism and hospitality sector overview, Emirates NBD 2014 30

- 3 dtcm
- The National http://www.thenational.ae/business/travel-tourism/uae-hospitality-industry-main-32 driver-of-jobs-market-ahead-of-dubai-expo-2020
- Human Rights Report, Swedish Foreign Office 2011 33
- Gulf Business http://gulfbusiness.com/2014/04/uae-plans-law-regulate-ngos/#.VfFwuBHtlBd 34 World Report: United Arab Emirates, Human Rights Watch 2015 http://www.hrw.org/world-
- 35 report/2015/country-chapters/united-arab-emirates The members of the GCC are Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, and the United Arab
- 36 Emirates.
- Noora Lori Temporary Workers or Permanent Migrants? The Kafala System and Contestations 37 over Residency in the Arab Gulf States, Ifri 2012
- 38 Azfar Khan and Hélène Harroff-Tavel Reforming the Kafala: Challenges and Opportunities in Moving Forward, ILO 2011
- AFP http://news.yahoo.com/gulf-expat-workers-send-home-100-billion-112029035.html 39 Martin Baldwin-Edwards Labour immigration and labour markets in the GCC countries: national 40
- patterns and trends, LSE 2011
- Noora Lori Temporary Workers or Permanent Migrants? The Kafala System and Contestations 41 over Residency in the Arab Gulf States, Ifri 2012
- Maria Dolores Picot Advancing the Rights of Migrant Workers in the Gulf Cooperation Council: 42 Reforming the Kafala System, EIUC and Ca'Foscari University of Venice 2014
- International Business Times http://www.ibtimes.com/dubai-illegal-immigrant-crackdown-43 emirate-arrests-thousands-laborers-immigration-1808272
- Maria Dolores Picot Advancing the Rights of Migrant Workers in the Gulf Cooperation Council: 44 Reforming the Kafala System, EIUC and Ca'Foscari University of Venice 2014
- 45 banned-from-the-uae.html
- The Kafala: Research on the Impact and Relation of the Sponsorship System to Migrant Labor 46 Bondage in GCC Countries, Asia Pacific Mission for Migrants 2014
- One example is the Philippines that has several institutions tasked with overseeing labour migration. Some examples are the Philippine Overseas Labor Office (POLO), the Philippine Overseas Employment Administration (POEA) and the Overseas Workers Welfare Administration (OWWA).
- 48 Labour recruitment to the UAE - Gaps between policy and practice in Sri Lanka, Nepal, Bangladesh and the Philippines, Migrant Forum in Asia 2011
- Azfar Khan, Piyasiri Wickramasekara and Lea Moubayed Travels of Hope, Toils of Despair: The 49 lives of migrant workers in the Gulf States, ILO 2011
- UAE labour law http://uaelaborlaw.com/ 50
- Lexology http://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=7288546b-e23d-4e7c-a49f-51 3b3d9a016ed1
- Internationally Recognized Core Labour Standards in the United Arab Emirates, ITUC 2012 52 Maria Dolores Picot Advancing the Rights of Migrant Workers in the Gulf Cooperation Council: Reforming the Kafala System, EIUC and Ca'Foscari University of Venice 2014 53
- UAE labour law Article 120.
- Maria Dolores Picot Advancing the Rights of Migrant Workers in the Gulf Cooperation Council: 54 Reforming the Kafala System, EIUC and Ca'Foscari University of Venice 2014 Lexology http://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=7288546b-e23d-4e7c-a49f-55
- 3b3d9a016ed1
- Migrants rights http://www.migrant-rights.org/2015/03/understanding-kafala-an-archaic-law-at-56 cross-purposes-with-modern-development/
- Compas Oxford Blog http://compasoxfordblog.co.uk/2012/03/immigration-and-labour-markets-57 in-gulf/
- The Kafala: Research on the Impact and Relation of the Sponsorship System to Migrant Labor 58 Bondage in GCC Countries, Asia Pacific Mission for Migrants 2014

Dubai department of tourism http://www.visitdubai.com/en/department-of-tourism_new/about-

New York Magazine http://nymag.com/daily/intelligencer/2015/03/interviewing-the-nyu-prof-

- Noora Lori Temporary Workers or Permanent Migrants? The Kafala System and Contestations 59 over Residency in the Arab Gulf States, Ifri 2012
- Migrants rights http://www.migrant-rights.org/2015/03/understanding-kafala-an-archaic-law-at-60 cross-purposes-with-modern-development/
- Steven D. Roper and Lilian A. Barria Understanding Variations in Gulf Migration and Labor 61 Practices, Brill 2014
- Azfar Khan and Rola Abimourched Migrant Workers Rights in Arab States, ILO 2009 62
- Gulf News http://gulfnews.com/business/sectors/employment/new-rule-marks-end-of-no-63 objection-certificates-1.732839
- Gulf Labour Markets and Migration http://gulfmigration.eu/uae-ministerial-decision-no-1186-of-64 2010-regarding-the-conditions-and-regulations-for-granting-a-new-work-permit-to-workers-whoare-transferring-to-a-new-establishment/
- Joy Ngozi Ezeilo Report of the Special Rapporteur on trafficking in persons especially women and 65 children, UN 2013
- ILO http://www.ilo.org/global/topics/forced-labour/news/WCMS_237569/lang--en/index.htm 66
- Beate Andrees and Patrick Belser Forced labor: Coercion and exploitation in the private economy, 67 ILO
- A Global Alliance Against Forced Labour, ILO 2005 68
- Giving globalization a human face, ILO 2012 69
- The Global Slavery Index, 2014 70
- The Universal Declaration of Human Rights, UN 1948 71
- International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, UN 1966 72
- International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of 73 Their Families, UN 1990
- International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of 74 Their Families, UN 1990
- UAE labour law article 18 75
- Private Employment Agencies Convention (No. 181), ILO 1997 76
- One worker state that he paid for recruitment but was later reimbursed by the company. 77
- 78 UAE labour law Article 65
- General Survey of the reports concerning the Hours of Work (Industry) Convention, 1919 (No. 1), 79 and the Hours of Work (Commerce and Offices) Convention, 1930 (No. 30), ILO 2005.
- The Universal Declaration of Human Rights, UN 1948 80
- 81 UAE labour law Articles 60 and 61.
- On the 11th of September 2015 Kuoni Group's European tour operating activities were sold to 82 REWE Group. Rewe Group and its tourism division DER Touristik, has therefore taken over Kuoni Group's tour operating activities in Switzerland, UK, Scandinavia/Finland and Benelux.
- Apollo http://www.apollo.se/om-apollo/fakta-och-siffror 83
- Travelnews http://www.travelnews.se/artiklar/nyheter/20150820/apollo-samarbetar-med-84 emirates-och-draper-sin-gud
- 85 Interview 19 august 2015.
- Apollo http://www.apollo.se/om-apollo/en-battre-resa/manskliga-rattigheter 86
- Kuoni https://www.kuoni.com/docs/kuoni_group_supplier_code_of_conduct_o_o_o.pdf 87
- The Travelife Standard for Hotels and Accommodations is an ethical and environmental standard 88 within the tourism sector.
- 89 Interview 19 august 2015.
- Kuoni http://www.kuoni.com/corp-responsibility/sustainable-supply-chain/monitoring-suppliers 90
- Kuoni https://www.kuoni.com/docs/gl_12_020_statement_of_commitment_0.pdf 91
- Kuoni http://www.kuoni.com/corp-responsibility/sustainability-at-kuoni 92
- Kunoi http://www.kuoni.com/corp-responsibility/human-and-labour-rights 93
- Roundtable on Human Rights in Tourism http://www.menschenrechte-im-tourismus.net/en/ 94 commitment.html
- Ving http://www.ving.se/fakta-och-siffror 95
- Interview 21 august 2015. 96
- Ving http://hallbartresande.ving.se/socialt-ansvar/ 97

- Ving http://hallbartresande.ving.se/principer-och-riktlinjer/ 98
- Interview 21 august 2015. 99
- 100 Thomas Cook http://www.thomascookgroup.com/sustainability/sustainability-report-2014/ According to the Global Compact website, this is a voluntary way to align operations with ten principles in the areas of human rights, labour, environment and anti-corruption. According to human rights - and make sure that the business is not complicit in human rights abuses. The principles also contain labour rights, meaning that businesses should uphold the freedom of association and the right to collective bargaining as well as eliminating all forms of forced and compulsory labour.
- 101 Fritidsresor http://www.fritidsresor.se/om-fritidsresor/om-foretaget/
- 102 Interview 26 august 2015.
- Sustainable Development Contract Addendum, TUI Travel 2013 103
- 104 Fritidsresor http://www.fritidsresor.se/om-fritidsresor/reko-resande/fragor-svar/
- Interview 26 august 2015. 105
- Sustainable Hollidays Report 2013, TUI Travel 2013 106
- 107 Supplier Code of Conduct, TUI Travel 2013
- 108 Interview 26 august 2015.
- 109 Handlingsplan för företagande och mänskliga rättigheter, Regeringskansliet 2015.
- 110 The corporate responsibility to respect human rights an interpretive guide, UN 2012
- 111 The corporate responsibility to respect human rights an interpretive guide, UN 2012
- The corporate responsibility to respect human rights an interpretive guide, UN 2012 112

these principles a business should support and respect the protection of internationally proclaimed

Reports published by Swedwatch

- 74. Ömsom vin, ömsom vatten. En uppföljning av Systembolagets hållbarhetsarbete (2015)
- 73. Healthier Procurement, Improvements to working conditions for surgical instrument manufacture in Pakistan (2015)
- 72. Blir guldet till sand? En rapport om fondförvaltning utan klimatmål (2015)
- 71. 44 barn med föräldrar i textilindustrin (2014)
- 70. Dränkta rättigheter, flytande ansvar Om Colombias största vattenkraftverk (2014)
- 69. Mänskliga rättigheter på hal is Svenska ishockeyförbundet och dess sponsorer passiva inför Lukasjenkas VM-show (2014)
- De olympiska kränkningarna Om OS i Sotji, de svenska sponsorerna och de mänskliga rättigheterna (2014)
- 67. Vinets väg från druva till glas En granskning av Systembolagets hållbarhetsarbete (2013)
- 66. Play fair en kampanj för schyssta sportkläder (2013)
- 65. Fruktade kemikalier på costa ricas plantager
 en granskning av importerad ananas och mango (2013)
- 64. Platinautvinning med risker Vilket ansvar har svenska företag i Sydafrika? (2013)
- 63. Blåbärssverige En resa bland bärplockare, brutna löften och framtidsdrömmar (2013)
- 62. Global expectations on Indian operations (2013)
- 61. Starkt fokus på kvinnors rättigheter (2013)
- 60. Blåbärsbranschen tar krafttag för bättre villkor i skogen (2013)
- 59. Arbetsvillkor i blåbärsskogen (2013)
- Skattjakten Var skattar företag med verksamhet i utvecklingsländer? (2013)
- 57. Investering utan insyn (2013)
- 56. Förädlat CSR-arbete (2013)

- 55. Cut and Run (2013)
- 54. Utan mark, utan makt (2013)
- 53. Flera steg mot bättre bransch (2012)
- 52. Vi konsumerar, de kompenserar (2012)
- 51. Mors lilla Olle III (2012)
- 50. Från noll koll till full kontroll? en ny granskning av Clas Ohlson, Jula, Rusta och Biltema i Kina (2012)
- A lot of gold a lot of trouble A study of humanitarian impacts of the gold industry in DR Congo (2012)
- 48. Mera soja Mindre mångfald En uppföljningsrapport om soja i Brasilien (2012)
- 47. A lost revolution? Women in the garment industry in Bangladesh want more. (2012)
- 46. Vet du vad din middag åt till frukost? En rapport om fiskmjöl (2012)
- 45. Allt är inte guld som glimmar den sanna historien om den smutsiga guldkedjan (2011)
- 44. Out of Focus Labour rights in Vietnam's digital camera factories (2011)
- 43. Mors lilla Olle II (2011)
- 42. Rena guldgruvan AP-fondernas investeringar har en smutsig baksida (2011)
- 41. Mors lilla Olle så exploateras asiatiska bärplockare i de svenska skogarna (2011)
- 40. Dyrare kaffe är bra (2011)
- 39. Leksaksföretagen har agerat efter kritiken (2011)
- Passive observers or active defenders of human rights? (2010)
- 37. Konfliktmineraler i våra mobiler (Voices from the inside) (2010)
- 36. Namibias uran bakom svensk kärnkraft (2010)
- 35. Etik för dyrt för svenska kaffebolag (2010)
- 34. Mer kött och soja mindre regnskog (2010)
- 33. Olaglig övertid i mobilfabriker (2009)

32. Skoföretag har dålig kontroll på miljön (2009)31. Hårt arbete bakom barnens julklappar (2009)

- 30. Vägar till ett bättre arbetsliv (2009)
- 29. Oädel handel: En rapport om import av tropiskt trä (2009)
- Out of Control: E-waste trade flows from the EU to developing countries (2009)
- 27. En brännande fråga: Hur hållbar är den etanol som importeras till Sverige? (2009)
- 26. En exkluderande resa: En granskning av turismens effekter i Thailand och Brasilien (2008)
- 25. Ett kaffe som märks: Vilka effekter har certifieringar för kaffeodlare? (2008)
- 24. Illegal Ground: Assa Abloy's business in occupied Palestinian territory (2008)
- 23. Den blinda klädimporten: Miljöeffekter från produktionen av kläder (2008)
- 22. Silenced to Deliver: Mobile phone manufacturing in China and the Philippines (2008)
- 21. Utveckling på vems villkor? Skanskas verksamhet i ecuadorianska Amazonas (2008)
- Risky Business. The Lundin Group's involvement in the Tenke Fungurume Mining project in the DRC (2008)
- Improving Working Conditions at Chinese Natural Stone Companies (2008)
- Powering the Mobile World. Cobalt production for batteries in the DR Congo and Zambia (2007)
- Svenska textilier ren vinst, smutsig produktion
 (2007)
- 16. Vita rockar och vassa saxar. En rapport om landstingens brist på etiska inköp (2007)
- Bristande miljö och etikkontroll. En rapport om Clas Ohlsons och Biltemas inköp (2006)
- 14. Arbetarnas situation på varven i Kina (2006)

- Sandvik och Freeport Två företag i konflikten om Papua (2006)
- Chokladens mörka hemlighet. En rapport om arbetsvillkoren på kakaoodlingarna i Västafrika (2006)
- 11. The Price of Oil. Nordic participation in violations in Oil and Gas development on Sakhalin in Russia (2006)
- Kaffe från Brasilien en bitter smak av orättvisa (2005)
- 9. Expansion i låglöneländer med etiska risker Assa Abloy i Rumänien och Mexiko (2005)
- 8. Lång väg till rättigheter Trelleborgs försök att hindra en fackförening på Sri Lanka (2005)
- 7. En vara bland andra? migrantarbetarnas situation och svenska företag i Saudiarabien (2005)
- 6. Handelskung med bristande etik en rapport om Clas Ohlsons inköp i Kina (2005)
- 5. Swedish pulp in Brazil The case of Veracel (2005)
- Människor och miljö i fruktindustrin två fallstudier från Chile och Sydafrika (2005)
- 3. Billig, snabb och lydig–en rapport om kinesiska leksaksarbetare och företagens ansvar (2004)
- 2. Svensk handel med Burma (2004)
- 1. Fallstudie om pappersmasseproduktion i Indonesien (2003)

